THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-10-3325, 2017-CP-10-05055
Appellate Case No. 2018-001413

Phillip DeClemente, a/k/a Alex Rochford, Appellant,

v.

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment
Services, LLC; Jeffrey Reed; Murrell G. Smith, Respondents,

and

Phillip DeClemente, a/k/a Phillip Goodpaster, Appellant,

v.

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment
Services, LLC (ATMES); Jeffrey Reed; Murrell G. Smith, Respondents.

INITIAL COMBINED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
NOV 09 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Cameron L. Marshall, – S.C. Bar #64192

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the court err in ordering summary judgment against Mr. DeClemente based upon the statute of limitations?
 - a. Did Judge Nicholson err in overruling Judge Dennis's prior order which denying Respondents' rule 12(b)(6) motion and correctly holding that the statute of limitations for Mr. DeClemente's breach of contract action began to accrue upon the promissory note's maturity date, thus establishing that the suit was filed prior to the statute of limitations expiration?
 - b. Did Mr. DeClemente present a mere scintilla of evidence that Respondents breached their Promissory Note and other contractual obligations owed him?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. DeClemente's 2015 breach of contract lawsuit seeks to recover the money Respondents owe him pursuant to the Promissory Note given to DeClemente when Respondents purchased his 25% ownership in their jointly held durable medical equipment company, ATMES. (Promissory Note, June 30, 2009). The suit also seeks enforcement of Respondents' additional contractual obligations to Mr. DeClemente contained in the Bill of Sale and Transfer. These include payment of a non-compete compliance bonus, payment for equity in a truck, and payment for a land purchase option. (Bill of Sale & Transfer, June 30, 2009). Mr. DeClemente filed this breach of contract action against Respondents on June 11, 2015. (Complaint 2015-CP-10-3325).

Respondents moved to dismiss on July 15, 2015, alleging the suit was filed outside the statute of limitations (Motion to Dismiss, filed July 15, 2015). Respondents argued that the statute of limitations began to run in September 2011, when they last gave Mr. DeClemente a full payment toward satisfaction of their indebtedness. On August 24, 2015 Respondents filed a motion for change of venue. (Motion to Change Venue). Both motions were heard by Judge Markley Dennis on January 14, 2016. (Motions Hearing Transcript, Judge Dennis, January 7, 2016). The court denied the motion to change venue³ and dismissed five causes of action as barred by the statute of limitations. (Form 4 Order denying Venue, January 14, 2016; Form 4 Order on Motion to Dismiss, January 14, 2016).

At a re-hearing on February 19, 2016 Judge Dennis ruled that the breach of contract action was timely filed because the Promissory Note's maturity date, March 1, 2013, was the date upon which the statute of limitations began to accrue. (Maturity Date Hearing Transcript, Judge Dennis, February 19, 2016, Form 4 Order, March 3, 2016). Mr. DeClemente's suit was therefore filed two hundred and sixty days prior to the statute of limitations March 1, 2016 expiration date. The court also allowed Mr. DeClemente the opportunity to make a minor clarifying amendment to his complaint. (Form 4 Order, March 3, 2016). The court instructed Respondents' counsel to draft a written order.

Mr. DeClemente's amended complaint was filed March 22, 2016. (Amended Complaint). It clarified that Respondents' had not made a full payment since September of 2011, though they had made partial payments. Respondents filed another identical

³ Respondents were also unsuccessful on their other motions to change venue.

motion to dismiss and for change of venue on June 6, 2016. (Motion to Transfer Venue and Motion to Dismiss). Judge Cooper denied the motions. (Order, Judge Cooper, October 4, 2016). November 1, 2016 Respondents answered Mr. DeClemente's amended complaint. (Answer to Amended Complaint). September 20, 2017 Respondents filed a summary judgment motion, again arguing for the third time that Mr. DeClemente's lawsuit violated the statute of limitations. (Summary Judgment Motion).

The court heard Respondents' for summary judgment motion on December 11, 2017. (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, Judge Nicholson). Judge Nicholson informed the parties that he would rule after reading Judge Dennis's order from the February 19, 2016 hearing, at which Judge Dennis correctly ruled that the breach of contract action does not violate the statute of limitations because of the Promissory Note's maturity date. (Hearing Transcript, Judge Dennis, February 19, 2016). In May 2016, more than two years after Judge Dennis instructed them to do so on February 19, 2016, Respondents submitted the proposed order to Judge Dennis. Judge Dennis filed his order May 16, 2018. (Order Memorializing Decisions, Judge Dennis). On July 2, 2018, six weeks after Judge Dennis ruled on the statute of limitations, Judge Nicholson overruled Judge Dennis and granted Respondents summary judgment based upon statute of limitations. (Summary Judgment Order, Judge Nicholson; Dismissal Order, Judge Nicholson). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

When Mr. DeClemente sold his ATMES ownership interest to his co-owners, Reed and Smith, Respondents executed a Promissory Note guaranteeing payment of the

money they owed Mr. DeClemente. (Promissory Note). The Promissory Note's maturity date is March 1, 2013. The note requires Respondents to pay DeClemente \$265,000.00, plus annual interest of 12%, in monthly payments of \$7,341.84.

Between the date the Promissory Note was executed, June 30, 2009, and its maturity date, March 1, 2013, there was a series of communications between Respondents and DeClemente. In these communications Respondents confirmed both their debt to Mr. DeClemente and their intent to pay all sums owed. (Email Exchange with Respondent Murrell G. Smith, August 10, 2010; (Email from Respondent Jeffery Reed, December 14, 2011). It was not until June 12, 2012 that Respondents informed DeClemente of their intent to breach their contractual obligations and default on their debt. (Letter from Respondent Murrell G. Smith, July 12, 2012). The statute of limitations for filing a breach of contract action is three years. Mr. DeClemente's breach of contract suit was filed on June 11, 2015. (Complaint 2015-CP-10-3325). Case 2015-CP-10-3325 was timely filed under both Judge Dennis' proper maturity date analysis *and* under Judge Nicholson's improper discovery rule analysis.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP. *Grinnell Corp. v. Wood*, 389 S.C. 350, 355, 698 S.E.2d 796, 798 (2010). Under Rule 56(c), SCRCP, the moving party is entitled to summary judgment upon showing that "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact." *Id.*

Summary judgment is not to be granted “where further inquiry into facts is desirable for clarification of the law” or even when there is “no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but dispute as to the conclusions to be drawn from those facts.” *Tupper v. Dorchester County*, 326 S.C. 318, 325, 487 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1997); *Piedmont Engineers, Architects and Planners, Inc. v. First Hartford Realty Corp.*, 278 S.C. 195, 196, 293 S.E.2d 706, 707 (1982).

ARGUMENT

I. JUDGE NICHOLSON ERRONEOUSLY OVERRULED JUDGE DENNIS BY ORDERING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST MR. DECLEMENTE BASED UPON THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

In granting Respondents’ summary judgment motion based upon the statute of limitations, Judge Nicholson erroneously overruled Judge Dennis’ prior order correctly establishing the promissory note’s maturity date as the statute of limitations accrual start date. (Order Memorializing All Prior Decisions, Judge Dennis, filed May 16, 2018; Summary Judgment Order, Judge Nicholson, filed July 2, 2018). There is no grey in this law. It is black and white. Judge Nicholson erred in overruling Judge Dennis. *See, Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher*, 287 S.C. 602, 603 S.E.2d 546, 547 (1986) (“One circuit court judge does not have the authority to set aside the order of another.”).

A. JUDGE DENNIS CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE 3-YEAR BREACH OF CONTRACT STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BEGAN TO ACCRUE UPON THE PROMISSORY NOTE’S MATURITY DATE.

Judge Dennis correctly held that analysis of the Promissory Note’s March 1, 2013 maturity date is the method for establishing the statute of limitations. (Order, Judge Dennis). The court correctly held that the statute of limitations expired March 1, 2016,

three years after the Promissory Note's maturity date. Mr. DeClemente filed this breach of contract action on June 15, 2015, more than eight months prior to the statute of limitations expiration. (Complaint 2015-CP-10-3325).

Judge Dennis's order honors the entirety of South Carolina jurisprudence, which holds that a contract's maturity date marks the beginning of the statute of limitations accrual period. The South Carolina Supreme Court has repeatedly held that a clearly specified maturity date marks the commencement date for calculating the applicable statute of limitations for filing suit against a defaulting guarantor. *See, Citizens and S. Nat. Bank of S.C. v. Lanford*, 313 S.C. 540, 543, 443 S.E.2d 549, 550 (1994). *CoastalStates Bank v. Hanover Homes of S.C., LLC*, held that the applicable 3-year statute of limitations began with the loan's maturity. *Id.* 408 S.C. 510, 759 S.E.2d 152 (Ct. App. 2014). The court wrote, "the statute of limitations on an action on an absolute guaranty, which is conditioned only on the debtor's default, begins to run when the obligation matures and the debtor defaults." *Id.*, quoting 38 Am. Jur. 2d *Guaranty* §96, at 1040 (2010). Adherence to this fundamental law is also seen in *Town of Cheraw v. Turnage*, wherein the South Carolina Supreme Court determined that the statute of limitations on an installment payment debt "did not begin to run until the last installment matures." *Id.* 184 S.C. 76, 191 S.E. 831, 837 (1937).

South Carolina is in accord with other states regarding limitations defenses asserted by guarantors. In *Glass v. Grant*, the Georgia Court held that "in an entire contract for a stated sum, providing for its payment in annual equal installments, the statute of limitations does not begin to run until after the date the last installment

becomes due.” *Id.*, 46 Ga. App. 327, 167 S.E. 272 (Ct. App. 1933). The court reasoned, nearly a century ago,

[a] contrary rule...would necessitate or require a multiplicity of suits, and in many cases a multiplicity of foreclosure of liens,...[and would therefore] be against the general policy to avoid litigation and a multiplicity of actions [and that] the promisee is entitled to wait, if he chooses, until the defendant defaults as to [the] contract in its entirety plus the period of limitations given to him. *Id.*

Colorado, among numerous other states, also holds that where promissory notes provide for a final payment of the unpaid balance to be made upon maturity, the statute of limitations does not begin to run upon a missed payment. *Castle Rock Bank v. Team Transit, LLC*, 292 P.3d 1077, 1089 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating that the Plaintiff can “sue for the final payment of the unpaid principal balance plus accrued interest on each note, in which case the statute of limitations began running from the dates the unpaid principal balance became due, which occurred on the notes’ maturity dates”).

B. EVEN UNDER JUDGE NICHOLSON’S INCORRECT APPLICATION OF THE DISCOVERY RULE, MR. DECLEMENTE’S BREACH OF CONTRACT ACTION WAS FILED WITHIN THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Judge Nicholson’s summary judgment order erroneously employs the discovery rule in calculating the statute of limitations. (Summary Judgment Order, Judge Nicholson). The discovery rule is applicable only in cases where parties have failed to include a maturity date as a clear and mutual understanding of when the statute of limitations for legal enforcement commences. *See, Santee Portland Cement Co. v. Daniel Int’l Corp.*, 299 S.C. 269, 274, 384 S.E.2d 693, 696 (1989) (The discovery rule is only applicable to contracts involving vague language as to maturity). There is no dispute as to

the Promissory Note's maturity date in this case. It is March 1, 2013. (ATMES' Promissory Note).

Respondents' Summary Judgment argument points to two dates on which they claim to have shown their intent to breach their obligation to pay DeClemente the money owed: September of 2011, when Respondents made their last full payment to DeClemente, and December 1, 2011 when DeClemente was served with Respondents' frivolous suit. (Motion for Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, Judge Nicholson, December 11, 2017). Judge Nicholson erroneously ruled that the statute of limitations began accruing on December 1, 2011. (Summary Judgment Order, Judge Nicholson).

The December 1, 2011 date is irrelevant because of the contract's maturity date. The date is also irrelevant because, Respondents' alleged "clear indication of intention to breach" is contradicted by the evidence including Respondent Reed's December 14, 2011 email to Mr. DeClemente. In the email Reed stated that it was not Respondents' intention to breach, explained why Respondents were in arrears, and assured Mr. DeClemente that Respondents would pay him in full. (Reed Email, December 14, 2011).

Additionally, Mr. DeClemente's pleadings include letters exchanged between DeClemente's counsel and Respondent Smith regarding payment arrearages. On July 8, 2012 DeClemente's counsel sent Respondent Smith a letter giving required written notice of Respondents arrearage and requesting resumption of monthly payments. (Letter from Attorney Marshall, July 8, 2012). On July 15, 2012 DeClemente's counsel received a letter from Respondent Smith in which Respondents informed DeClemente that they would be breaching their contractual obligations. (Letter from Respondent Smith dated

July 12, 2012). This letter from Mr. Smith was the first time Respondents informed DeClemente that they did not intend to honor their contracts.

Even under Judge Nicholson's erroneous application of the discovery rule, since DeClemente filed suit on June 11, 2015, his claim was brought within the 3-year statute of limitations, which under the discovery rule arguably expired July 15, 2015.

C. THE CONTRACT MR. DECLEMENTE ENTERED INTO EVIDENCE CONSTITUTES MORE THAN THE MERE SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE REQUIRED TO WITHSTAND SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Having addressed Judge Nicholson's erroneous statute of limitations order, Mr. DeClemente bears the burden of showing the existence of a genuine issue of material fact in order to withstand summary judgment against him. This factual issue is whether Respondents owe DeClemente money.

In order to withstand a summary judgment motion, the non-moving party "must come forward with specific facts that show there is a genuine issue of fact remaining for trial." *Sides v. Greenville Hosp. Sys.*, 362 S.C. 250, 255, 607 S.E.2d 362, 364 (Ct.App.2004). The three elements for proving breach of contract include existence of the contract, its breach, and damages caused by the breach. *S. Glass & Plastics, Co. v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 491, 732 S.E.2d 205, 209 (Ct.App. 2012). "[A]ssertions as to liability must be more than mere bald allegations made by the non-moving party in order to create a genuine issue of material fact." *S. Glass & Plastics Co. v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 490, 732 S.E.2d 205, 209 (Ct. App. 2012) quoting, *Jackson v. Bermuda Sands, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 11, 17, 677 S.E.2d 612, 616 (Ct.App. 2009).

The Promissory Note and Non-Compete Agreements are more than a mere scintilla of evidence proving Respondents' debt to DeClemente. The Promissory Note requires Respondents to pay DeClemente a certain amount of money. (ATMES' Promissory Note). Respondents and Judge Nicholson concede that Respondents have failed to do. The Promissory Note is not an allegation of Respondents' liability for payment, it is conclusive proof of Respondents' liability.

The court's summary judgment order concedes that Respondents breached their contractual duties. (Summary Judgment Order, Judge Nicholson). The subject contracts are properly executed and fully enforceable. (DeClemente's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, filed July 21, 2016). Since there is no dispute as to the contract's enforceability, the court, in order to achieve its desired outcome, erroneously ruled that DeClemente waited too long to sue Respondents.

CASE 2017-CP-10-5055

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in dismissing Mr. DeClemente's declaratory judgment action?
 - a. Does the default order Judge Nicholson entered against Mr. DeClemente in case 2011-CP-10-08011 bar Appellant's right to declaratory judgment on enforceability of the Full and Final Release's damages satisfaction requirement?

- b. Does the Full and Final Release require that the erroneous default judgment against Mr. DeClemente be marked “satisfied”?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. DeClemente filed declaratory judgment action 2017-CP-10-5055, with detailed supporting memorandum attached, on October 3, 2017. (Complaint 2017-CP-10-5055), (DeClemente’s Memorandum in Support of Declaratory Judgment Action, filed October 3, 2017). The lawsuit seeks declaratory judgment on the enforceability of the mutual Full and Final Release’s damages provision. The Full and Final Release is the contract in which the parties release one another from any and all damages related to their business relationship. (Full & Final Release, July 8, 2009).

November 8, 2017 Respondents filed a motion to dismiss the declaratory judgment action, for sanctions against DeClemente’s counsel and for speedy trial. (Motion to Dismiss, Request for Speedy Hearing, filed November 8, 2017). Judge Nicholson heard Respondents’ motions on December 11, 2017. (Hearing Transcript, Judge Nicholson, December 11, 2017). By order filed July 2, 2018 Judge Nicholson erroneously granted Respondents’ motion to dismiss DeClemente’s declaratory judgment suit. (Dismissal Order, Judge Nicholson). The reasons Judge Nicholson gave for his order were res judicata and DeClemente’s default status in case 2011-CP-10-8011. (Default Order, Judge Nicholson, April 30, 2014).

Judge Nicholson's default order in case 2011-CP-10-8011 does not, however, extinguish Mr. DeClemente's right to declaratory judgment on enforceability of the Full and Final Release's damages satisfaction mandate.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties' Full and Final Release *prohibits Respondents from suing Mr. DeClemente* for any reason growing out of his former ownership of, and/or employment with, ATMES and its subsidiaries. (ATMES' Full & Final Release). The Full and Final Release *also requires Respondents to satisfy any damages* DeClemente might suffer as a result his former ownership of, and/or employment with, ATMES and its related companies. (Full & Final Release). The Full & Final Release was executed and signed by both parties on July 10, 2009 as a legally binding promise not to sue Mr. DeClemente. The Release was witnessed by outside parties, contains the words "signed, sealed, and delivered" and the letters "L.S.", and was subsequently notarized. The Release is a fully enforceable sealed instrument in accordance with S.C. Code 15-3-520 and 19-1-160.

Respondents intentionally violated the Full and Final Release by filing suit against Mr. DeClemente on October 31, 2011 in case 2011-CP-10-8011. In that case Judge Nicholson prevented DeClemente from asserting the Full and Final Release as an affirmative, absolute defense to Respondents' illegal lawsuit. The court erroneously held DeClemente in default and struck his answer and counterclaims. (Default Order, Judge Nicholson). Judge Jefferson subsequently entered default judgment against DeClemente in the amount of \$875,144.00. (Default Judgment, Judge Jefferson, December 21, 2017). Judge Jefferson then refused to consider Mr. DeClemente's Rule 59 and Rule 60 motions,

which asserted the Release as satisfaction of the erroneous default judgment. (Order Denying Motion to Amend Judgment, Judge Jefferson, January 26, 2018). Mr. DeClemente filed case 2017-CP-10-5055, seeking declaratory judgment on enforceability of the Full and Final Release's damages provision on October 3, 2017. (Complaint 2017-CP-10-5055).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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