THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR 08 2019

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2015-CP-10-3325 & Case No. 2017-CP-10-05055  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001413

---

Phillip DeClemente, a/k/a Alex Rochford, ..... Appellant,

v.

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment  
Services, LLC; Jeffrey Reed; Murrell G. Smith, ..... Respondents,

and

Phillip DeClemente, a/k/a Phillip Goodpaster, ..... Appellant,

v.

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment  
Services, LLC (ATMES); Jeffrey Reed; Murrell G. Smith, ..... Respondents.

---

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

There are two reasons to affirm the judgment in the 2017 case. First, the order dismissing the 2015 case held this same exact claim was barred by the statute of limitations. That ruling has not been appealed. Res judicata bars further litigation. The second reason is related—the 2011 default judgment is res judicata between these parties. DeClemente may not use a declaratory judgment to re-litigate his liability in the 2011 case.

**I. The circuit court properly held the statute of limitations for DeClemente to sue Respondents began running when Respondents sued him for fraud, necessarily communicating their intent to breach the 2009 buyout.**

The circuit court properly held the statute of limitations for DeClemente to sue Respondents for breaching DeClemente's June of 2009 buyout began running when

Respondents stopped paying DeClemente and sued him. (7/2/18 Or.pp.4-5). The circuit court found a reasonable observer would view these actions as a clear signal that Respondents did not intend to further comply with DeClemente's June of 2009 buyout. *Id.* That finding was right. This Court should affirm the circuit court's judgment.

There is a three year statute of limitations on suits for breach of contract. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1) (Supp. \_\_\_\_). The discovery rule applies to breach of contract actions. *Mitchell v. Holler*, 311 S.C. 406, 409 n.2, 429 S.E.2d 793, 795 n.2 (1993). Under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when the right to sue "reasonably ought to have been discovered" and "from the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct." *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996).

The circuit court correctly found DeClemente knew or should have known he had a cause of action since the middle or end of 2011. Since this was more than three years before he filed the 2015 lawsuit, the circuit court correctly concluded the suit was barred.

First, there is the fact that Respondents stopped paying. The summary judgment record included all of the checks ATMES sent DeClemente pursuant to the 2009 buyout. From July of 2009 to June of 2011 ATMES sent DeClemente twenty-five (25) checks for the payments under the promissory note. (Aff. of Martha Jo Johnson, pp.19-43). The records do not reflect any payments on the note after June of 2011.

Second, there is the lawsuit. Respondents sued DeClemente in November of 2011, naming him as a defendant on claims alleging deceit, fraud, negligence, and a civil conspiracy to misrepresent Abacare's financial information. Respondents were claiming

DeClemente participated in a scheme to sell them a company that he and his former partners knew was vastly overvalued. No reasonable person would have believed Respondents would pay DeClemente *more* money at the same time they were alleging he was part of a scheme to sell them a company that did not keep accurate books and that may have engaged in fraud.

The circuit court cited this Court's decision in *Maher v. Titex Corp.* as comparable. (7/2/18 Or.pp.4-5). That was a good comparison. *Maher* involved the alleged breach of a contract to pay an annual performance bonus. This Court reversed a jury verdict in the plaintiff's favor, noting the plaintiff's own testimony illustrated that he had approached his boss and received unsatisfactory answers about the bonus more than three years before the plaintiff filed suit. 331 S.C. 371, 379-380, 500 S.E.2d 204, 208 (Ct. App. 1998). This Court explained the statute of limitations requires "very little to start the clock" and that the only reasonable inference was that the plaintiff should have known, at least after his demotion at work, that an alleged right of his had been invaded and that a claim against his employer might exist. 331 S.C. at 380, 500 S.E.2d at 208.

There is no serious dispute that the same rationale applies here. Nobody disputes Respondents ceased paying DeClemente at some point in 2011. There is a small dispute about when the payments stopped. DeClemente says September of 2011. (DeClemente Aff.p.2, ¶8). There are no documented checks past June. (Johnson Aff.p.43). Still, nobody disputes the payments completely stopped. It seems evident there was a distinct breach.

DeClemente says there were some personal checks and partial payments from Respondent Reed, but even DeClemente acknowledged in his deposition these stopped as soon as he was sued. He explained "I was told they were going to catch up and make

payments and to meet this guy to get the payment. And when I did, your clients handed me the lawsuit.” (DeClemente Depo.p.44, line 21 - p.45, line 5). Again, no reasonable person would have believed Respondents would pay DeClemente more money on his buyout when they had completely stopped paying him and while they were also charging him with a civil conspiracy and fraud.

**II. The summary judgment in Respondents’ favor is supported by independent grounds other than the statute of limitations.**

The summary judgment in Respondents’ favor is also supported by two independent grounds other than the statute of limitations. First, DeClemente’s arguments are either wrong outright or barred from consideration because he did not make them below. Second, DeClemente’s theory of the case requires this same claim to have been brought as a counterclaim in 2011. Since DeClemente did not file a valid answer to the 2011 lawsuit, his argument compels the conclusion that his breach of contract claim is barred.

**a. DeClemente’s arguments are either wrong outright or barred from consideration because he did not make them below.**

DeClemente’s lead argument for reversal is that Judge Nicholson—the circuit judge who granted Respondents’ motion for summary judgment—impermissibly reversed the prior decision of Judge Dennis. Judge Dennis denied Respondents’ motion to dismiss.

The principle that one circuit court judge cannot overrule another applies to rulings on the merits. A helpful articulation of this rule appears in *Graham v. Town of Loris*, which explains that when a judge of the court of common pleas makes a decision “on the merits of a matter” that decision is not the judge’s personal opinion, but a judgment of the circuit

court. 272 S.C. 442, 449, 248 S.E.2d 594, 597 (1978). Graham further explains “[t]here is no appeal from one Circuit Judge to another” and that one circuit judge may not review “the same state of facts” and change, alter, or reverse another circuit judge’s decision. 272 S.C. at 449, 248 S.E.2d at 597.

Judge Nicholson and Judge Dennis reviewed different issues and different facts. Judge Dennis was tasked with deciding a motion to dismiss. As the Court is aware, such a motion is confined to the four corners of the complaint. Judge Nicholson decided a motion for summary judgment. As the Court is aware, summary judgment motions generally involve matters outside the complaint; matters like depositions, admissions, affidavits, and the other forms of information listed in Rule 56(c), SCRPC.

Judge Dennis mentioned this difference at the hearing. He explained he was allowing the first cause of action to proceed beyond the motion to dismiss stage because DeClemente’s complaint mentioned the promissory note’s maturity date of March 2013, which was less than three years before DeClemente brought the 2015 case. (2/19/16 Tr.p.2, lines 9-23). Judge Dennis said he did not know whether there was information outside the pleadings that would have caused the statute of limitations to start running before the note’s maturity date. *Id.* He then explicitly stated he was not ruling on a summary judgment motion and that his ruling would not preclude a summary judgment motion like the one Respondents filed later. (*Id.* p.5, line 17 - p.6, line 21). Judge Nicholson did not overrule Judge Dennis.

DeClemente’s other argument is that the statute of limitations on an installment contract does not begin running until the maturity date. This misstates the general rule, but even so, DeClemente cannot make this argument because he did not make it below.

The general rule is that the statute of limitations for an installment contract begins running from the time each individual installment becomes due. *Anton A. Vreede, M.D., P.C. v. Koch*, 380 S.E.2d 615, 616-618 (N.C. Ct. App. 1989) (discussing the Williston treaty on Contracts and other authorities). The general rule also provides, however, that a creditor may wait until the maturity date to sue on the entire contract rather than suing after each individual missed payment. *Id.* The rationale for this rule is that if the creditor is willing to surrender his immediate right to sue and to keep the installment contract in effect the creditor should be allowed to do so without prejudice. *Id.*; see also 54 C.J.S. *Limitations of Actions* § 209 (titled “Provisions for acceleration of maturity”).

DeClemente never made this argument below. At the motion to dismiss stage, he argued he did not know Respondents were refusing to pay him until July of 2012. (DeClemente 1/7/16 Memo.p.5); (1/7/16 Tr.p.18, line 12 - p.19, line 5). This was nearly a year before the promissory note matured. July of 2012 was when DeClemente’s lawyer received a letter from Respondent Smith explaining ATMES believed DeClemente had caused significantly more damage than whatever balance remained on the note. (Letter).

Again, at no point in DeClemente’s written or oral argument on the motion to dismiss was there any mention of limitations being tied to the note’s maturity date. See (DeClemente 1/7/16 Memo.pp.1-6) (the written argument); (1/7/16 Tr.pp.1-25) (the hearing transcript).

At the summary judgment stage, DeClemente argued this issue had already been decided by Judge Dennis and that Judge Dennis’ decision was the law of the case. (12/11/17 Tr.p.13, lines 1-22). The record does not contain any response by DeClemente to Respondents’ argument that stopping payment and suing DeClemente counted as an

anticipatory breach and could only be interpreted as repudiating the 2009 buyout. Again, DeClemente's argument was that summary judgment could not be granted because Judge Dennis had previously denied the motion to dismiss.

This matters because error preservation rules strictly limit the appealing party to arguments that the appealing party raised below. A party must try to convince the circuit court it has erred before taking an appeal. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). A corollary of the same principle is that a party may not argue one ground below and a different ground on appeal. *State v. Tucker*, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995). The record does not show DeClemente ever arguing that the statute of limitations for an installment contract does not begin running until maturity.

The general rule about installment contracts appears to have been noted by Judge Dennis sua sponte. (2/19/16 Tr.p.2, lines 10-11). DeClemente's motion to reconsider did not mention the argument. (DeClemente 1/25/16 Mot.pp.1-6). It also bears mentioning that one of the exhibits to DeClemente's motion to reconsider was an e-mail to DeClemente from Respondent Reed saying "we want our money back that we have paid you[.]" (Id.Ex.2, p.5). That e-mail was dated December 9, 2011; roughly three and a half years before DeClemente filed the 2015 suit. Again, any reasonable person would have understood Respondents were not honoring DeClemente's 2009 buyout. They stopped paying them and they sued him.

**b. DeClemente's theory of the case requires this claim to have been brought as a counterclaim in 2011.**

A final reason to affirm the judgment in Respondents' favor on the 2015 case is that under DeClemente's own theory of the litigation, his claim for breach of his 2009 buyout was

a compulsory counterclaim to the 2011 lawsuit Respondents brought against him for fraud. Since DeClemente did not file a valid answer to the 2011 lawsuit, his own argument compels the conclusion that his breach of contract claim is barred.

Rule 13(a), SCRCF requires a party to state “any claim” as a counterclaim that “arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party’s claim[.]” In other words, a defendant is generally required to bring against the plaintiff all counterclaims that arise out of the same transaction for which the plaintiff is suing the defendant.

To be clear, DeClemente’s 2009 buyout and the 2011 lawsuit against him are not related. The release the parties executed as part of the buyout explains the buyout arose out of “a dispute and disagreement [] between DeClemente and the remaining members of ATMES” and that the parties agreed to release one another from claims growing out of their operation of ATMES. (Release p.1). The 2011 lawsuit, in contrast, relates to conduct prior to the formation of ATMES. As already discussed, the 2011 lawsuit alleged fraud and misrepresentation leading up to the 2008 sale of Abacare.

Even so, DeClemente’s theory is that the 2009 release barred the 2011 lawsuit against him. Under that theory, it is hard to see how there can be any other conclusion than the rest of DeClemente’s claims for breach of the 2009 buyout would be compulsory counterclaims to the 2011 suit. DeClemente said in his affidavit that the release and promissory note were a part of the same contract. (Aff.p.1, ¶5). His second claim in the 2015 case was that the release barred the 2011 lawsuit. (2015 Compl.pp.5-6). His argument meshes these together. But if they are together, the claims were compulsory and belonged in the 2011 case.

This case is like *Gathings v. Robertson Brokerage Co.*, where a party did not have to bring certain claims as part of the case but was obligated to bring additional claims once the party decided to add certain claims to the suit. 295 S.C. 112, 367 S.E.2d 423 (Ct. App. 1988). There, a defendant chose to implead a third party and bring claims against that party. This obligated the defendant to bring other claims related to the same subject matter.

The same is true here. DeClemente did not have to claim the release from the 2009 buyout as a defense to the 2011 case. But once he did so he was obligated to bring all claims related to the 2009 buyout. The court struck his answer from the 2011 case as untimely. (DeClemente 1/7/16 Memo.pp.4-5). Respondents are not aware of any authority allowing a litigant to bring a subsequent lawsuit raising issues that would have been compulsory counterclaims in a prior lawsuit where the same litigant was denied relief from default.

**III. The circuit court correctly dismissed the 2017 declaratory judgment as an improper attempt to re-litigate issues from a prior lawsuit.**

There are two reasons to affirm the judgment in the 2017 case. First, the order of dismissal in the 2015 case held this very same claim was barred by the statute of limitations. That ruling has not been appealed. Res judicata bars further litigation. The second reason is related—the 2011 default judgment is res judicata between these parties. DeClemente may not use a declaratory judgment to re-litigate his liability in the 2011 case.

**a. Judge Dennis' decision in the 2015 case is res judicata and bars the 2017 declaratory judgment.**

The 2017 declaratory judgment is the same thing that was alleged as the second cause of action in the 2015 case. Compare (2017 Compl. pp.1-3) with (2015 Compl.pp.5-6). In

the 2015 case Judge Dennis ruled this cause of action was barred by the statute of limitations. (5/16/18 Or.p.1). DeClemente has not appealed that ruling. His appeal in the 2015 case is limited to Judge Nicholson's grant of summary judgment on the first cause of action from his complaint.

Res judicata bars subsequent lawsuits between the same parties when the claims arise out of the same subject as a prior suit between them. *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. Greenville Cty.*, 401 S.C. 377, 385, 737 S.E.2d 502, 506 (Ct. App. 2013). Its fundamental purpose is to ensure no one is sued twice for the same cause of action. *Id.* at 386, 737 S.E.2d at 507.

Judge Dennis' unappealed ruling in the 2015 case is that DeClemente's claim for breach of the release is barred by the statute of limitations. That ruling is the law of the case and binds these parties.

**b. The default judgment in the 2011 case is res judicata as well.**

A default judgment bars additional litigation between the same parties on the same subject matter. There does not appear to be any serious dispute about this. See *Morris v. Jones*, 329 U.S. 545, 550-51 (1947) ("A judgment of a court having jurisdiction of the parties and of the subject matter operates as res judicata, in the absence of fraud or collusion, even if obtained upon a default.").

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